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GROUP STRUCTURESHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED: 31 December 2013
Annual Report Published 17 April 2014 
Seventy-Fourth Annual General Meeting 14 May 2014

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING: 31 December 2014
Interim Report August 2014 
Profit announcement for the year                February 2015 
Annual report published March 2015
Seventy-Fifth Annual General Meeting May 2015 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the Seventy-Fourth Annual General Meeting of Astra Industries Limited will be held in the 
Auditorium at Astra Park, Corner Ridgeway North / Northend Roads, Highlands, Harare, on 14 May 2014 at 1200 hours for 
the following purposes:

Ordinary Resolutions:  

1. To receive, consider and adopt the financial statements for the 16 months ended 31 December 2013, together 
with the report of the Directors and auditors therein.

2. To elect Directors.
 In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr H.M. Nhende and Dr C.M.B. Utete retire from the Board by 

rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

 Messrs A.B.C. Chinake, E. Mohamed and D.A. Thomas having been appointed to the Board on the 25th of July 
2013, retire in terms of the Articles of Association and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

3. To note the resignations of Mrs A.R. Chinamo, Messrs E.J. Davies, T.M. Johnson, V.W. Zireva and Prof R. 
Murapa.

4. To fix the remuneration of the non-executive directors for the 16 months ended 31 December 2013.

5. To approve the remuneration of the auditors for the 16 months ended 31 December 2013.

6. To appoint auditors for the ensuing year.

A member entitled to vote at these meetings is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote and speak in 
his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the company.

Proxy forms must be lodged at the registered office of the Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time 
of holding the meeting.

By order of the Board

Astra Holdings Limited Secretaries.

27 March 2014

ASTRA INDUSTRIES LIMITED

NCP DISTILLERS
ZIMBABWE 

(PVT) LIMITED
51% SUBSIDIARY

CHEMICAL ENTERPRISES 
(PVT) LIMITED

60% SUBSIDIARY

ASTRA PAINTS
DIVISION

ASTRA HOLDINGS 
LIMITED

ASTRA CHEMICAL 
(PVT) LIMITED

100% 100%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CTD)

HEAD OFFICE AND REGISTERED OFFICE

14 Burnley Road
Workington, Harare
P O Box HG 300
Highlands
Harare

Web address: www.astra.co.zw
E-mail address: comms@astra.co.zw

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
First Transfer Secretaries (Private) Limited

PRINCIPAL ATTORNEYS
Costa & Madzonga Legal Practitioners

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Barclays Bank of Zimbabwe Limited

AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ASTRA INDUSTRIES BOARD

Directors

A.B.C. Chinake Chairman (Independent non-executive Director)
M. Mazimbe* Managing Director
E. Mohamed Non-executive Director
H. Nkala Independent non-executive Director
H.M. Nhende* Finance Director
D.A. Thomas Non-executive Director
Dr C.M.B. Utete Independent non-executive Director

Audit, Risk and Finance Committee
D.A. Thomas Chairman
E. Mohamed Non-executive Director
Dr C.M.B. Utete Independent non-executive Director
   
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
A.B.C. Chinake Chairman
E. Mohamed Non-executive Director
H. Nkala Independent non-executive Director

Safety, Health and Environmental Committee
A.B.C. Chinake Chairman
E. Mohamed Non-executive Director
Dr C.M.B. Utete Independent non-executive Director

*Executive Directors

MANAGEMENT
Astra Industries Limited
M. Mazimbe Group Managing Director
H.M. Nhende Finance Director
E.M. Mazibuko Group Accountant
L. Nyanzara Human Resources Manager
D. Mkhize Internal Audit Manager
T. Makota Information Technology Manager

Astra Chemical (Private) Limited
E.J. Davies Managing Director
R. Mugara Finance Manager
E. Chivore Production Manager
N. Masunda Sales and Marketing Manager

Astra Paints
J. Chinyuku General Manager
E.T. Gumbo Finance Manager
F. Moyo Branch Manager – Bulawayo

NCP Distillers Zimbabwe (Private) Limited
B. Chindondondo Plant Manager
R. Kupfuwa Accountant

Chemical Enterprises (Private) Limited
R. Munyaka  Operations Manager
B. Mjanja Accountant
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“This partnership further entrenches Kansai Plascon’s leadership position as the number 
one coatings company in Africa, and will allow us to focus further on our expansion plans 
and our aim to continue leading the industry,” said Nauman Malik, Chief Executive Officer 
of Kansai Plascon. “We have the processes and people for this in place, so I would like to 
encourage each of you continue with business as usual, adhering to our values, TRACC, 

and I trust that the Astra team will have your full support and cooperation.”

Nauman Malik.Mac Mazimbe MB of Astra Paints.

Key stakeholders discuss the Astra-
Kansai Plascon partnership.

6

Kansai Plascon recently acquired a 63.25% interest in the issued share in Astra Industries Limited, a company based 
in Zimbabwe. This is the first strategic partnership that Kansai Plascon has undertaken in Africa.

Kansai PLascon and asTRa –  
a Winning PaRTnERshiP

Partnership with Zimbabwean company to expand Kansai Plascon’s leadership position into Africa

One of Kansai Plascon’s key strategies 
is to expand our leadership position into 
the rest of Africa, and the inclusion of 
Astra in Zimbabwe further strengthens our 
presence, complementing our factories and 
brand presence in South Africa, Botswana, 
Namibia, Zambia and Malawi.

astra industries Limited
Astra is a manufacturer and distributor of 
paints, protective coatings, chemicals and 
potable alcohol. 

Astra Paints has over 55 years of 
experience in the manufacture and 
distribution of paints and coatings as well 
as allied products. Astra Paints is currently 
the largest paint manufacturer in Zimbabwe, 
employing 232 permanent employees at its 
two operating sites in Harare and Bulawayo. 
The paints manufactured by the division are 
classified into Decorative, Industrial and 
Automotive.

Astra Paints is the market leader in 
Zimbabwe, with an estimated market 
share of 44% of the paint market, and the 
division is ISO9001 certified for its quality 
management system and is working on 
its Environmental Management System 
achieving ISO14001 certification.

Its operations are based in Harare, with 
branches in Bulawayo and Chegutu. The 
company has over 400 products which are 
used as raw materials in the manufacture 
of a wide range of products, including 
paints, adhesives, alcoholic drinks, food 
stuff, textiles, pharmaceutical products and 
plastics.

zimbabwe shows real promise
Zimbabwe’s economy is growing despite 
continuing political uncertainty. Following a 
decade of contraction from 1998 to 2008, 
Zimbabwe’s economy recorded real growth of 
6% in 2011.

The Zimbabwe economy has traditionally 
been based on agriculture, with tobacco being 
dominant. This sector declined from 2000 

onwards with the collapse of commercial 
agriculture, and since then mining has been the 
mainstay of the economy. Zimbabwe possesses 
abundant mineral reserves, with significant 
deposits of platinum, chrome, diamonds, coal, 
gold, coal bed methane and iron ore.

“The partnership with Astra shows 
Kansai Plascon’s faith in Zimbabwe, which 
is in the process of rebuilding its economy, 
as well as the confidence we have in the 
leadership team based there,” said Nauman 
Malik, Chief Executive Officer of Kansai 
Plascon. “Astra is lead by an experienced 
management team, and I would like to take 
this opportunity to welcome all at Astra 
into the Kansai Plascon fold. I look forward 
to working with all of you to synergise our 
business and to continue leading the market 
in Zimbabwe.”

Launch function 

The Kansai Plascon and Astra Industries 
Limited partnership was celebrated at a 

launch function in Harare in September. 
The objective of the launch was to highlight 
the winning partnership to key stakeholders 
from government, customers and industry, 
as well as to showcase Astra-Kansai Plascon 
products. Amongst the guests were key 
stakeholders, including:
^ Mr A. Saburu (Senior Division Chief – 

Financial Markets, The Reserve Bank of 
Zimbabwe)

^ Honourable Mike Bimha (Minister of 
Industry & Commerce)

^ Retired General G. Nyambuya (Chairman, 
National Indigenisation Economic 
Empower ment Board)

^ Mr Ben Manyenyeni (His Worship the 
Mayor, City of Harare)

^ Mr Y. Tsuzuki (First Secretary, Japanese 
Embassy)

The event highlighted the strong support across 
government and industry for the Kansai Plascon 
and Astra Industries Limited partnership.

Product display area at the event.

Kansai Plascon and Hemistar recently acquired a 63.25% interest in the issued share of Astra Industries 
based in Zimbabwe. This is the first strategic partnership Kansai Plascon has undertaken in Africa. 

Mac Mazimbe MD of Astra Industries.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

GENERAL 
The macro-economic challenges experienced in previous periods persisted this year, and were further aggravated by the 
focus on elections resulting in the period under review being characterised by significant slowdown in business activity 
countrywide. The lack of liquidity in the economy has persisted impacting on the ability of companies to significantly grow 
their business.

YEAR END CHANGE
Following the acquisition of a majority stake in the Company by Hemistar Investments and Kansai Plascon, the Company 
changed its year end from 31 August to 31 December and as such the results presented are for 16 months to 31 December 
2013.

PERFORMANCE
Revenue for the period under review was US$39.7 million, with operating profit at $2.2 million being marginally higher than 
that for the restated year ended 31 August 2012. However, this change is not strictly comparable as the Company changed 
its year end from August to December, resulting in a 16 month financial period.   Operating profit was negatively impacted 
by increased selling and administrative expenses, in particular wages.

The Board will continue to focus on improving efficiencies and profitability and acknowledges the effort by management 
in delivering a commendable set of results despite the difficult macro-economic environment. 

OPERATIONS

Paints Division
Sales volumes, on a comparative basis, declined 3% compared to last year primarily due to the fact that a number of con-
struction projects were put on hold due to the harmonised elections.  Competition in the sector was intense driven by both 
local producers and imports.  Gross Profit margins were however maintained at the same level as last year.

Chemicals Division 
Sales volumes, on a comparative basis, grew by 9% but at reduced margins. Despite the growth in volumes, they were 
still below expected levels due to slow recovery of the manufacturing sector and the liquidity challenges in the economy. 

Regulatory Issues
The Competition and Tariff Commission, as well as final Ministry of Youth, Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment ap-
provals for the acquisition of the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe’s majority stake by Kansai Plascon and Hemistar Investments, 
have been obtained.  

In respect of the compulsory offer to minorities as required under the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange regulations in pursuant 
to the transaction, a further announcement to shareholders will be made once all the relevant regulatory approvals have 
been obtained. 

Dividend Declaration
Given the constrained trading environment and the Group’s working capital needs, the Directors resolved not to declare 
a dividend.

Outlook
The Group is starting to capitalize on its strategic alliance with Kansai Plascon, through introducing the Plascon flagship 
products, developing export markets and exploiting operational synergies in the paints business.  In addition, the Group 
will continue to focus its attention on cost containment and improving working capital efficiencies to create value for its 
shareholders.

A.B.C. Chinake
Chairman
27 March 2014

OVERVIEW

The period under review had a number of business challenges; chief among them was the continued liquidity shortages. 
The economy is potentially entering a deflationary period, as inflation eased to 0.33% for 2013 calendar year from 2.91% in 
2012, primarily due to restricted consumer spending. The year was largely adversely affected by the harmonised elections 
which resulted in ‘a wait and see’ attitude being adopted with a number of large construction projects being put on hold. 
The manufacturing sector is hampered by a lack of competitiveness due in part to outdated machinery and inadequate 
power supply.  A number of manufacturing organisations were forced to either close or scale down during the period 
under review.

The Group’s turnover performance on an adjusted basis was flat in comparison to last year. However gross margins for 
the Group grew from 33% last year to 36% this year.  Other operating income declined this year, while operating expenses 
increased by 49% during the year, resulting in operating profit margins declining from 7% last year to 6% this year.

The major factors that have adversely affected the Group’s performance include depressed demand, intense competition 
for the available market and low disposable incomes due to high levels of unemployment.  Other key sectors such as 
agriculture and mining did not perform to expectations.

During the period under review the focus was primarily on preserving value.  The Group gave working capital management 
close attention.  Despite that effort the level of non-performing credit customers was high, led mainly by state enterprises. 
Debtors’ days deteriorated from 46 days at August 2012 to 60 days as at 31 December 2013. Focus on trade debtors and 
credit policy is a priority.

Astra Paints
Average monthly sales volumes for the division declined by 3% compared to last year.  The environment was characterised 
by low business activity from key segments such as construction.  This, coupled with insufficient liquidity in the market, lack 
of mortgage finance and intense competition from mainly imports resulted in the business partly offsetting the decline in 
volumes by foregoing higher trading margins.

The coming of Kansai Plascon as the majority shareholder in the Astra Group will directly benefit the division in terms of 
improved product offering, technical and marketing support.  The benefits of this relationship are already being felt in the 
paints business.

Astra Chemical
Sales volumes for Astra Chemical grew by 4% over last year.   Revenue grew by 9% to $15,6 million on a comparative basis. 
Trading margins declined by two percentage points to 21%.  The dynamics in the market for bulk chemicals are linked to the 
manufacturing sector, which saw a number of large manufacturing entities switching from manufacturing to trading and 
distributing imported products.  

The business is set to benefit from procurement advantages and better creditors’ terms following the acquisition of a 
major stake in the Group by Kansai Plascon.

Chemical Enterprises
Chemical Enterprises, which is focused on the mass market, suffered a 7% decline on sales volumes.  The decline in 
sales volumes was exacerbated by the need to manage debtors as a number of this unit’s large hardware chains are 
facing viability issues.  Some are currently in various stages of raising capital through various ways including schemes of 
arrangements with creditors.

Chemical Enterprises, achieved a break-even position for the year.  The business is on a road to recovery from a trading 
loss in prior year.

NCP Distillers Zimbabwe
NCPDZ is a potable alcohol producer.  The production plant is in Chiredzi.  During the year there were no operational 
problems experienced in prior years, such as raw material shortages and power induced stoppages. Sales volumes grew 
by 8% while revenue grew by 14%.  In the later part of the financial year, export business declined due to legislation changes 
relating to packaging of alcohol spirits in glass bottles from plastics in the main export market of Zambia.  Customers in 
Zambia are adjusting their packaging in compliance with new requirements.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As reported last year, the narrowing gap between workers whose salaries are regulated by NEC and managerial staff 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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members narrowed further in 2013. Industrial labour relations were cordial throughout the year.  The Group continues to 
invest in training and development of employees. The Group offers graduate trainee programs in paint chemistry, finance 
and accounting, marketing and engineering.  This provides the required pool of skills for the Company and the market.  

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Information Technology (IT) and communication systems are relatively up to date and stable.  No challenges were 
experienced during the year.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is part of the Group’s policy.  CSR is not limited to assisting needy cases in community, 
it is an integral part of the way we conduct business.  We have started a process of reducing Volatile Organic Compounds 
(VOCs) in our manufactured products. In line with the Governments indigenisation policies, The Group has identified two 
vocational training colleges, one in Mashonaland and another in Matabeleland which the Group will support on a needs 
basis in agreement with the colleges and the Ministry. An MOU to this effect is being finalised and will form the basis on 
which the Group will contribute to incremental vocational training and employment creation.

CONCLUSION

The Board is grateful for the contribution of management and staff in a difficult period.  The acquisition of a majority stake 
from Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe by management, staff and Kansai Plascon Africa Limited is expected to offer the Group 
increased opportunities to grow through increased technical and marketing support from a multinational organisation.  

Board and management’s focus is now squarely on growing the businesses market share in all segments in which it 
operates and improving profitability.  

The improving political environment should augur well for the country’s economic progress.

M. Mazimbe
Managing Director
27 March 2014

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (CTD) SUMMARY OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 16 months ended Year ended Year ended
 31 December  2013 31 August 2012  31 August 2011  
  Restated Restated
CONTINUING OPERATIONS US $ US $ US$
Revenue 39,670,612 29,628,542   24,530,631 
Cost of sales ( 25,515,788) (19,710,380) (16,640,770)

Gross profit    14,154,824     9,918,162     7,889,861 
Other operating income     599,895    679,686      226,555 
Operating expenses ( 12,500,711) ( 8,396,336) ( 6,859,444)
    
 
Operating profit    2,254,008  2,201,512     1,256,972 
Finance income     144,433  41,185      87,185 
Finance costs  (141,095) ( 194,677) ( 123,443)
   
Profit before tax    2,257,346     2,048,020     1,220,714 
Income tax expense (  568,274) (  526,653) (  273,288)
   
Profit for the period    1,689,072    1,521,367      947,426 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from discontinued operations - - (179,453)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR    1,689,072  1,521,367     767,973 
   
Profit for the year from continuing and discontinued 
operations attributable to:    
 
Owners of the company    1,519,291  1,453,132      721,735 
Non-controlling interests     169,781   68,235      46,238 
  1,689,072  1,521,367 767,973
    
   
Profit for the period from continuing operations 
attributable to:    
 
Owners of the company    1,519,291  1,453,132  901,188
Non-controlling interests     169,781 68,235      46,238 
 1,689,072 1,521,367     947,426 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment       1,921,206  117,921  297,010
Deferred tax effect on revaluation gain        (460,888) (  5,896) (14,851)
Tax effect of change in manner of recovery 
of investment property -     66,542         171,575 
Total other comprehensive income    1,460,318   178,567         453,734 
   
Total comprehensive income for the year    3,149,390     1,699,934 1,221,707
    
Total comprehensive income from continuing and 
discontinued operations attributable to:    
 
Owners of the company 2,895,881 1,631,699 1,175,469
Non-controlling interests 253,509     68,235      46,238 
    3,149,390     1,699,934     1,221,707 
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SUMMARY OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CTD) FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS

 16 months ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
 31 December 31 August 31 August 31 August  
 2013 2012 2011 2010
  Restated Restated 
   
SHARE PERFORMANCE    
Number of shares in issue (million) 140 140 140 139

Weighted average number of shares in issue (million) 140 140 140 138
Diluted weighted average number of shares 
in issue (million) 142 142 142 142

Earnings per share from continuing and 
discontinued operations:      
-  Diluted (cents per share)             1.07  1.02            0.51           0.61 
-  Basic (cents per share)            1.09  1.04            0.52            0.62 

Earnings per share from continuing operations:      
-  Diluted (cents per share)             1.07            1.02             0.63          0.84 
-  Basic (cents per share)     1.09     1.04      0.65            0.87 

Weighted net asset value per share (cents per share)              12              10                  9                 8 

Share price at year end (cents per share)    5.00           4.50           4.70            2.50 

Earnings yield based on weighted number of shares (%)    
-  Continuing and discontinued operations    21.80         23.11         11.06    24.99 
-  Continuing operations  21.80          23.11    13.83       34.68 
    
PROFITABILITY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT 
– Continuing operations:    
Operating profit margin (%)     5.68          7.43        5.12      8.07 
Profit after tax margin (%)      4.26           5.13            3.86      6.41 
Attributable profit margin (%)       3.83            4.90      3.67            6.38 
Operating profit to total assets (%)             9.24  10.37       6.57         9.17 
Profit before tax to total assets (%)         9.25           9.65         6.38          7.72 
Profit after tax to total equity (%)    9.74     10.53         7.44        11.18 
Attributable profit to equity holders of the parent (%)              9.38        10.72            7.57        11.19 
    
SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY 
– Continuing operations    
    
Interest cover using net finance costs (times)        (675)   14.34    34.67    6.32 
Interest bearing debt to shareholders’ equity (%)     0.86      6.40      9.73      6.87 
Current assets to current liabilities 2.1:1 1.86:1 1.83:1 1.87:1
Acid test ratio  0.97:1 0.92:1 0.83:1 0.96:1

PRODUCTIVITY – Continuing operations    
Number of employees      321       388       282       340 
  Permanent      311       272       253       298 
  Contract      10       116       29       42 
    
Turnover per employee (US $)     123,584      76,362      86,988      55,257 
Operating profit per employee (US $)     7,022      5,674      4,457      4,462 
Average cost per employee (US $)     18,216      1, 599      9,284      7,691 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 December 31 August 31 August 31 August
 2013 2012 2011 2010
 US $ US $  US $  US $
  Restated Restated 

ASSETS
    
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment    9,565,753  7,467,465  7,560,919 10,054,191
Investment property    3,885,000    3,960,000  3,020,000 -
Convertible debenture     103 436  - - -
 13,554,189   11,427,465  10,580,919 10,054,191
Current assets    
Bank and cash     716,288   1,000,263  229,879 298,134
Other current assets 10,123,423  8,798,758  8,319,938  6,187,961
  10,839,711  9,799,021  8,549,817 6,486,095
 
Total assets  24,393,900  21,226,486  19,130,736 16,540,286 
     
  
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
 
Share capital 1,399,941 1,397,291 1,397,291 1,391,791
Reserves  14,803,429  12,155,557 10,508,700 9,317,038
Attributable to owners of the Company  16,203,370  13,552,848 11,905,991 10,708,829

Non-controlling interest    1,145,373      898,191      835,732  53,062
Total equity  17,348,743   14,451,039  12,741,723 10,761,891
    
Non-current liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities    1,884,046  1,494,537  1,729,682 2,315,272 
 
Current liabilities     
  
Borrowings     150,000  925,000 1,239,619 738,917
Other current liabilities    5,011,111  4,355,910  3,419,712 2,724,206
Total current liabilities    5,161,111     5,280,910  4,659,331 3,463,123
Total liabilities 7 045 157    6,775,447  6,389,013 5,778,395
Total equity and liabilities  24,393,900    21,226,486  19,130,736 16,540,286
     
  
INVESTMENT  
  
Capital expenditure 1,164,443 1,114,412 427,581 177,428
Current assets increase 1,040,690 1,249,204 2,063,722 2,091,325
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the 16 months ended 31 December 
2013.

Year’s results
The annexed financial statements adequately disclose the results of the Group’s operations during the year.  They should 
be read in conjunction with the Chairman’s statement and Managing Director’s review of operations, both of which 
base their comments on the financial statements.  Earnings attributable to owners of the company for continuing and 
discontinuing operations were US$1,519,291 (2012: US$1,453,132). These include a fair value loss on investment property 
amounting to US$75 000 (2012: US$230,000 gain) which has been recognised in the income statement.
   
Property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditure for the 16 months ended 31 December 2013 totalled US$1,164,443 (2012: US$1,144,412). The capital 
expenditure for the year to 31 December 2014 is planned at US$500,972 of which none has been contracted.

Share Capital
The authorised share capital of the Company is US$1 550 000 and comprise 155 000 000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each.  
There were 265 000 share options exercised during the year increasing the issued share capital to 139 994 136 (2012: 139 
729 136). The number of ordinary shares currently under options is 2 055 000 (2012: 2 570 000).

Reserves
The movement in the reserves of the Group are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditors
Members will be asked to appoint Deloitte &Touche as auditors of the Group for the ensuing year and approve payment 
of their fees for the past financial year.

The directors of the Company and the Group are responsible for:

• Presenting the shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group and Company’s financial 
position and financial performance at the end of the financial year.

• 
• Ensuring that the Group and the Company maintains accounting records, which disclose, with reasonable accuracy, 

the financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with relevant statutes.

• 
• Taking steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other 

irregularities.
• 
• Selecting appropriate accounting policies which follow International Financial Reporting Standards and for 

monitoring compliance by the Group and the Company.

Approval
These financial statements are expressed in United States dollars.  The Board of Directors assumes responsibility for the 
Group annual financial statements, which were approved by the Board on 19 February 2014.

A.B.C. Chinake      M. Mazimbe  
27 March 2014      27 March 2014

REPORT OF DIRECTORS REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Members of Astra Industries Limited

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Astra Industries Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(the Group) on pages 16 to 54, which comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at  31 December 2013, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consoli-
dated statement of cash flows for the 16 months then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03). This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Astra Industries 
Limited and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 16 months then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the financial statements have, in all material respects, been properly prepared in compliance with the dis-
closure requirements of the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03).

Deloitte &Touche
HARARE, ZIMBABWE
27 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

  16 months ended Year ended
  31 December 2013 31 August 2012 
   Restated 
 Notes US $ US $
Revenue  39,670,612 29,628,542
Cost of sales  (25,515,788) (19,710,380)
Gross profit  14,154,824 9,918,162
Other operating income  599,895 679,686
Operating expenses  (12,500,711) (8,396,336)
Operating profit 5 2,254,008 2,201,512
Finance income 6 144,433 41,185
Finance costs 6 (141,095) (194,677)
Profit before tax  2,257,346 2,048,020
Income tax expense 7 (568,274) (526,653)
Profit for the period  1,689,072 1,521,367

Profit for the period attributable to:   
 
Owners of the company  1,519,291 1,453,132
Non-controlling interests 19 169,781 68,235
  1,689,072 1,521,367
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
 
Tax effect of change in manner of recovery of investment property  - 66,542
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  1,921,206 117,921
Deferred tax effect on revaluation gain  (460,888) (5,896)
Total other comprehensive income for the period  1,460,318 178,567
   
Total comprehensive income for the period  3,149,390 1,699,934
   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:   
 
Owners of the company  2,895,881 1,631,699
Non-controlling interests  253,509 68,235
  3,149,390 1,699,934
   
Earnings per share (cents)   
Basic (cents per share) 8 1.09 1.04
Diluted (cents per share) 8 1.07 1.02

  As at As at As at
  31 December 31 August 31 August
  2013 2012 2011
  US$ US$ US$
 Notes  Restated Restated
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 9 9,565,753 7,467,465 7,560,919
Investment properties 10 3,885,000 3,960,000 3,020,000
Held to maturity investment  11 103,436 - -
  13,554,189 11,427,465 10,580,919 
    
Current assets    
Inventories 13 5,828,240 4,944,497 4,564,292
Trade and other receivables 14 4,069,870 3,466,550 3,285,149
Other assets 12     225,313      387,511      329,434 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 716,288 1,000,263 229,879
  10,839,711 9,798,821 8,408,754
Assets classified as held for sale 16 - 200 141,063
  10,839,711 9,799,021 8,549,817

Total assets  24,393,900 21,226,486 19,130,736
     
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Capital and reserves    
Share capital 17 1,399,941 1,397,291 1,397,291
Share premium 17 6,266,529 6,255,100 6,255,100
Revaluation reserve 18 4,105,934 2,729,344 2,550,777
Share option reserve 17.3 69,084 77,013 61,855
Retained earnings  4,361,882 3,094,100 1,640,968
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  16,203,370 13,552,848 11,905,991
Non-controlling interests 19 1,145,373 898,191 835,732
Total equity  17,348,743 14,451,039 12,741,723
     
Non-current liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities 20 1,884,046 1,494,537 1,729,682
    
Current liabilities     
Short-term borrowings 21 150,000 925,000 1,239,619
Trade and other payables 22 4,952,796 4,227,663 3,397,869
Current tax liabilities  58,315 128,247 21,843
  5,161,111 5,280,910 4,659,331
     
 
Total liabilities  7,045,157 6,775,447 6,389,013
    
Total equity and liabilities  24,393,900 21,226,486 19,130,736
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

 Notes 16 months ended Year ended
  31 December 2013 31 August 2012
  US $ US $
   
 
Cash flows from operating activities   
Operating profit for the period  2,254,008 2,201,512
Adjustment for non-cash items 23 698,711         581,964 
(Increase)/decrease in working capital 24 (462,569)     48,680 
Cash generated from operations  2,490,150 2,832,156
   
Finance income  144,433 41,185
Finance costs  (141,095) (194,677)
Income taxes paid  (709,585) (594,748)
Net cash generated from operating activities  1,783,903 2,083,916
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  123,251 39,488
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale  - 106,011
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (1,164,443) (1,144,412)
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,041,192) (998,913)
    
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of new shares  6,150 1,600,000
Proceeds from short-term borrowings  575,000 -
Repayments of short-term borrowings  (1,350,000) (1,914,619)
Dividends paid to non controlling shareholders  (6,327) -
Dividends paid to owners of the Company  (251,509)  -
 
Net cash utilised in financing activities  (1,026,686) (314,619)
   
(Decrease)/Increase  in cash and cash equivalents  (283,975) 770,384
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 15 1,000,263 229,879
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15 716,288 1,000,263 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
1.  GENERAL INFORMATION
 
 Astra Industries Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Zimbabwe in 1939. In July 2013 the Reserve Bank of 

Zimbabwe (RBZ) through its investment vehicle the Finance Trust of Zimbabwe (Private) Limited disposed off its 
shareholding representing 63,25% in the Company to Hemister Investments.  Hemister Investments is an indigenous 
investment vehicle that is 51% owned by Astra management and staff and 49% by Kansai Plascon Africa Limited 
(Kansai Plascon).  Subsequently Kansai Plascon acquired 38,24% shareholding in the Company from Hemister 
Investments and based on the principles of International Financial Reporting Standards the Company’s controlling 
party is Kansai Plascon. The address of its registered office and principal place of business is Astra Paints, 14 Burnley 
Road, Workington, Harare. The main business of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) is the manufacture 
and distribution of surface coatings and chemicals and these have been described under note 4. The Group’s 
functional and reporting currency is the United States Dollar (US$). 

  
2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS).
 
2.1 New and revised IFRSs mandatorily effective at the end of the reporting period with no material effect on the 

reported amounts and disclosures in the current period or prior period. 
  
 The amendment deals with various aspects ranging from modification of accounting for 

termination benefits to enhanced disclosures about defined benefit plans.
 
 The revised standard will supersede the current version of IAS 27 and deals with the 

accounting and disclosure of an entities interest in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in the entities separate financial statements.  

 The revised standard supersedes the current version of IAS 28 and prescribes the 
accounting for investment in associates and also sets out the requirements for the 
equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.

 
 The interpretation deals with how and when to account for the costs associated with 

the striping activity (during the production phase of a surface mine), as well as how to 
measure these benefits both initially and subsequently.

 
 Amends the disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to 

require information about all recognised financial instruments that are set off in 
accordance with paragraph 42 of IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

 

 Amends IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards to 
address how a first-time adopter would account for a government loan with a below-
market rate of interest when transitioning to IFRSs. The amendments mirror the 
requirements for existing IFRS preparers in relation to the application of amendments 
made to IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance in relation to accounting for government loans. 

 Amends IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to reduce the circumstances in which the 
recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units is required to be disclosed, 
clarify the disclosures required, and to introduce an explicit requirement to disclose 
the discount rate used in determining impairment (or reversals) where recoverable 
amount (based on fair value less costs of disposal) is determined using a present value 
technique. 

2.2 New and revised IFRSs mandatorily effective at the end of the reporting period with a material effect on the 
reported amounts and disclosures in the current period or prior period.

  
 New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

 In May 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued 
comprising IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in 
other entities, IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures. Subsequent to the issue of these standards, amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 
12 were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance on the first-time application of the standards.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013 (CTD)

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (CONtINued).

 In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) 
together with the amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 regarding the transitional guidance. IAS 27 (as revised 
in 2011) is not applicable to the Group as it deals only with separate financial statements.

 
 Impact of the application of lFRS 10.
 
 IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated 

financial statements and SIC-12 Consolidation -Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control 
such that an investor has control over an investee when a) it has power over the investee, b) it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and c) has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns. All three of these criteria must be met for an investor to have control over an investee. Previously, control 
was defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. Additional guidance has been included in IFRS 10 to explain when an investor has control over an investee. 

 The directors of the Company made an assessment as at the date of initial application of IFRS 10 as to whether or 
not the Group has control over NCP Distillers Zimbabwe (Private) Limited (NCPDZ), an entity which was previously 
accounted for as a joint venture, in accordance with the new definition of control and the related guidance set out 
in IFRS 10. The directors concluded that it has had control alone over NCPDZ on the basis of the benefits that the 
Group derives from its shareholding and ability to influence returns alone unilaterally. Therefore, in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRS 10, NCPDZ has been accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

	 Impact	on	profit	for	the	year	of	the	application	of	IFRS	10	
  2012
  US$
 Increase in revenue 2,459,932
 Increase in cost of sales            1,958,205
 Increase in other operating income 1,564
 Increase in operating expenses 450,405
 Increase in finance costs 5,937
 Increase in finance income 1,127
 Increase in income tax expense 35,628
 Increase in profit for the year                   30,821
 
 Increase in profit for the year attributable to : 
 Owners of the company -
 Non-controlling interests 30,821

IAS 19 – Employee 
Benefits

IAS 27 – Separate 
Financial Statements

IAS 28 – Investment in 
Associates and Joint 
Ventures

IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs 
in the Production Phase 
of a Surface Mine 

Amendments to IFRS 7 
disclosures — Offsetting 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities  

Amendments to IFRS 1 —
Government Loans

Amendments to IAS 
36 — Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial 
Assets
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (CONtINued).

2.2 New and revised IFRSs mandatorily effective at the end of the reporting period with a material effect on the 
reported amounts and disclosures in the current period or prior period. (continued)

 Impact of the application of lFRS 11.
 As NCPDZ has been accounted for as a subsidiary in full based on IFRS 10, the considerations of IFRS 11 have no 

impact in the current year.

 Impact of the application of lFRS 12.
 IFRS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 

associates and or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the application of IFRS 12 has resulted in more 
extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (please see note 26 for details)

 Impact of the application of lFRS 13.
 The Group has applied IFRS 13 for the first time in the current year. IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for 

fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope of IFRS 13 is broad; the fair value
 measurement requirements of IFRS 13 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for 

which other lFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except 
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions 
that are within the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment 
purposes).IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current 
market conditions. Fair value under IFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. Also, IFRS 13 includes extensive disclosure requirements.

 IFRS 13 requires prospective application from 1 January 2013. In addition, specific transitional provisions were 
given to entities such that they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the Standard in comparative 
information provided for periods before the initial application of the Standard. In accordance with these transitional 
provisions, the Group has not made any new disclosures required by IFRS 13 for the 2012 comparative period (please 
see notes 9 and 10 for the 2013 disclosures). Other than the additional disclosures, the application of IFRS 13 has not 
had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Impact of standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective

 The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

 lFRS 9 Financial instruments
 IFRS 9, issued in November 2009, introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 

assets. IFRS 9 was amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities and for derecognition.

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014.

 Amendments to lFRS 10, lFRS 12 and lAS 27 investment Entities
 The amendments to IFRS 10 define an investment entity and require a reporting entity that meets the definition of 

an investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries but instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through 
profit or loss in its consolidated and separate financial statements.

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2015.

 Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
 Amends IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to reduce the circumstances in which the recoverable amount of assets 

or cash-generating units is required to be disclosed, clarify the disclosures required, and to introduce an explicit 
requirement to disclose the discount rate used in determining impairment (or reversals) where recoverable amount 
(based on fair value less costs of disposal) is determined using a present value technique.

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014.	

 Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
 Amends IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to make it clear that there is no need to 

discontinue hedge accounting if a hedging derivative is novated, provided certain criteria are met.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (CONtINued).

2.2 New and revised IFRSs mandatorily effective at the end of the reporting period with a material effect on the 
reported amounts and disclosures in the current period or prior period. (continued)

 Impact on assets liabilities and equity as at 31 August 2012 on the application of IFRS 10

  As at   As at 
  31 August 2012 IFRS 10 31 August 2012
  as previously reported Adjustment  (restated)
  2012 2012 2012
  US$ US$ US$
 Property, plant and equipment 6,816,249 651,216 7,467,465
 Inventories 4,767,544 176,953 4,944,497
 Trade and other receivables 3,302,949 163,601 3,466,550
 Other assets 382,642 4,869 387,511
 Cash and cash equivalents 967,636 32,627 1,000,263
 Deferred tax liabilities (1,358,728) (135,809) (1,494,537)
 Trade and other payables (4,131,408) (96,255) (4,227,663)
 Current tax liabilities (115,655) (12,592) (128,247)
 total effect on net assets 10,631,229 784,610 11,415,839
 Non controlling interests 113,581 784,610 898,191
 Retained earnings 3,094,100         - 3,094,100
 total effect on equity 3,207,681 784,610 3,992,291

 Impact on assets liabilities and equity as at 31 August 2011 on the application of IFRS 10

  As at   As at 
  31 August 2011 IFRS 10 31 August 2011
  as previously reported Adjustment  (restated)
  2011 2011 2011
  US$ US$ US$
 Property, plant and equipment 6,934,227 626,692 7,560,919
 Inventories 4,383,928 180,364 4,564,292
 Trade and other receivables 3,100,587 184,562 3,285,149
 Other assets 319,296 10,138 329,434
 Cash and cash equivalents 215,304 14,575 229,879
 Deferred tax liabilities (1,575,499) (154,183) (1,729,682)
 Trade and other payables (3,288,804) (109,065) (3,397,869)
 Current tax liabilities (22,549) 706 (21,843)
 total effect on net assets 10,066,490 753,789 10,820,279
 Non controlling interests 81,943 753,789 835,732
 Retained earnings 1,640,968 - 1,640,968
 total effect on equity 1,722,911 753,789 2,476,700

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013 (CTD)
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (CONTINUED).

2.3  Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting (continued)

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014

 Amendments to IAS 19 defined Benefit Plans: employee Contributions 
 Amends IAS 19 Employee Benefits to clarify the requirements that relate to how contributions from employees or 

third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service. In addition, it permits a practical 
expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, in that contributions, 
can, but are not required, to be recognised as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which the related service 
is rendered.

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014

 IFRIC 21 Levies

 Provides guidance on when to recognise a liability for a levy imposed by a government, both for levies that are 
accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and those where 
the timing and amount of the levy is certain.

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014

 The Directors have assessed the impact that the adoption of these standards and interpretations and believe that 
they will not have on the financial statements on the period of initial application.

 Amendments to lAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities.
 Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ and 

‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’.

	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2015.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
3.1 Statement of compliance

 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with those International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparation, and the relevant statutory instruments (SI 33/99 and 
SI 62/96).

 The financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Astra Industries Limited (the Group) and entities 
(including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when an entity 
a) has power over the investee, b) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and c) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

 Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance

 
 When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

into line with those used by other members of the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation

 

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

3.2 Basis of preparation

 The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment property, certain items 
of property, plant and equipment and financial instruments and liabilities that are stated at fair value. Fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which 
are described as follows:
• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity  
 can access at the measurement date;
• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset  
 or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 
 Significant details of the Company’s accounting policies are set out below and are consistent with those applied in 

the previous year, except where otherwise indicated.
 
 The financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 

Zimbabwean Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) as amended.

3.3 Business combinations

 The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition / purchase method. The cost of the acquisition 
is measured at the aggregate of the fair values at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that 
meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations are recognised at the fair values at the 
acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance 
with IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at 
fair value less costs to sell.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost 
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 The interest of non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

3.4 Goodwill

 Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

 For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

 A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

 On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination 
of the profit or loss on disposal.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount 
does not materially differ from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period. 
Gains and losses arising from revaluations are transferred to capital reserves. A valuation was performed as at 31 
December 2013 in the current period for plant, machinery, land and buildings. The methods of valuation were as 
follows:

 Land and buildings            :       Open market value
 Plant and equipment        :       Depreciated replacement value

 Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously 
expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in 
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a 
previous revaluation of that asset.

	 Depreciation
 Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued 

property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly 
to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings except when an asset is 
derecognised.

 Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not 
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for 
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of 
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended 
use.

 Freehold land is not depreciated.

 Freehold land and buildings and plant and machinery are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued 
amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, determined from market based evidence by appraisal 
undertaken by or with the assistance of professional valuers, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment. Vehicles, furniture and other equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation.

 Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and properties
 under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated 

useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

3.6 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
 
3.7 Investments

 Unlisted equity investments are stated at cost unless there is a reliable basis to measure at fair value. Losses arising 
from the revaluation of investments are taken to the statement of comprehensive income.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss 
(if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present values using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation increase

  
3.10 Inventories

 Inventories comprise merchandise, raw materials, work in progress, finished goods and manufactured components. 
They are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value generally determined on a moving average basis. Raw 
materials, merchandise and components are valued at the landed cost on a first in first out basis. Finished goods and 
work in progress are valued at direct material and labour costs, an appropriate share of production expenses and 
where applicable, excise duty. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less the costs necessary to make the sale. Obsolete and slow moving inventories are identified and written down 
with regard to their estimated economic or realisable value. Write downs to net realisable value and inventory losses 
are expensed to profit and loss in the period in which they occur.

3.11 Financial instruments

	 Financial	assets
 Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment as 

under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified into 
the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ 
investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

	 Effective	interest	method
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than 
those financial assets designated as at FVTPL.

	 Financial	assets	at	FVTPL
 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at 

FVTPL. Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognized in profit or loss. 
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

	 Held-to-maturity	investments
 Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the Group has 

the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity 
investments are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment, with revenue 
recognised on an effective yield basis.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments (continued)

	 Loans	and	receivables
 Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest 
rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting would be immaterial.

	 Impairment	of	financial	assets
 Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 

period.  Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been affected. For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

 For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. For financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

	 Financial	liabilities	and	equity	instruments	issued	by	the	Group
 Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 

of the contractual arrangement.

	 Equity	instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 

its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

	 Financial	liabilities
 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.
 Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or is designated as 

FVTPL with any resultant fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability. 

 Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

	 Share-	based	payment	arrangements
 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair 

value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-
settled share-based transactions are set out in note 3.20.4. These share options are valued at the date of grant. The 
fair value determined is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period based on the Group’s estimate of 
the shares that will eventually vest and the liability is disclosed in a share option reserve which forms part of equity.

 At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected 
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recorded in profit and loss such that the 
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

 Fair value at grant date was measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the model has 
been adjusted, based on management’s best estimates, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
and behavioural considerations. The value transferred to the share option reserve is amortised to retained earnings 
as the related share options are exercised or forfeited.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments (continued)

 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value 
of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or 
the counterparty renders the service.

3.12 Provisions and onerous contracts

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 
is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation 
can be made. The amount recognised as a provision, is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

	 Onerous	contracts
 An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs 

of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. 
Onerous contracts are recorded at the present value of the net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower 
of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.

	 Restructurings
 A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 

and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

3.13 Retirement benefit cost

 Contributions to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

3.14 taxation

 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

	 Current	tax
 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 

income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date.

	 Deferred	tax
 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill 
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 taxation (continued)

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
liability is settled or the asset realised based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially been 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities.

	 Current	and	deferred	tax	for	the	period
 Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in profit and loss, except when they relate to 

items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity),in 
which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity or where they arise from initial accounting for a business 
combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in the accounting for the 
business combination. 

3.15 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

	 Sale	of	goods
 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor        

effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
	 Interest	income
 Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount 

of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

	 Rental	income
 The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in note 3.19.1 below
 
3.16 Investment property 
 
 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are 

measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are 
measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included 
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

 An investment property is de-recognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising under recognition 
of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is de-recognised

 

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.17 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 
 Non-current assets and disposal groups  are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only 
when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

 
 Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell.  
 
3.18 Foreign transactions and balances

 While the Group’s records are maintained in United States Dollars, some of the transactions are conducted in 
other major foreign currencies. Foreign assets and liabilities are converted to United States Dollars at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the end of the financial period. Transactions in foreign currencies are transferred to United States 
Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the time of the transactions. Transaction and translation gains or losses arising 
on conversion or settlement are dealt with in the statement of comprehensive income in the determination of the 
operating income.

3.19 Leasing

 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

3.19.1 The Group as lessor

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.19.2 The Group as lessee

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefits of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed.

3.20 Segmental reporting

 A segment is identified as a reportable segment if a majority of its revenue is earned from sales to external customers 
and if its revenue, profit or assets are 10% or more of those of the Group. A business segment is a distinguishable 
component of the Group that is engaged in providing goods or services, and is subject to risks and returns that are 
different from those of other business segments.

3.21 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual outcomes may differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate 
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.21 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

	 Critical	judgements	in	applying	accounting	policies

 The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements:

3.21.1 Residual values of property, plant and equipment

 During the period, management considered the residual values of property, plant and equipment which are 
included in the statement of financial position at 31 August 2013. The residual values of each asset category have 
been assessed after taking into account age and obsolescence. The residual values were computed as a percentage 
of their fair value, based on the age of the asset. The residual values of all assets will be reassessed each year and 
adjustments for depreciation will be done in future periods if there is indication for diminution in value.

3.21.2 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

 In determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment management considered the local operating 
environment, technology changes, use, type, make and model of each asset category.

 
3.21.3 Impairment of property, plant and equipment other than land

 Determining whether property, plant and equipment is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash generating units to which property, plant and equipment has been allocated. The value in use computation 
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash generating unit and a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate present value. The Directors carried out impairment tests on all categories of the 
Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2013.

3.21.4 Share based payments

 No share options were granted in the current period. The valuation of the Group’s share options took into 
consideration the adverse economic conditions that existed in the market leading to trade ceasing on the Zimbabwe 
Stock Exchange and the change in functional currency. The Group adopted the provisions of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) 2 which states that all option pricing models should take into account, at a minimum:

 
 (a) the exercise price
 (b) the life of the option
 (c) the current price of underlying shares
 (d) the expected volatility of the share price
 (e) dividends expected on the shares and
 (f) the risk free interest rate

 Volatility
 The Group used volatility for the twelve months ended 31 August 2010 as it was assumed that the first seven months 

of the United States trading period were not a fair reflection of the share price volatility.
 
 Risk free interest rate
 As there was no government paper in the market, the risk free rate for the Group was determined with reference to 

the borrowing rates that the Group was able to obtain from the major financial lenders.

 expected dividends
 Management prudently assumed that no dividends would be declared over the life of the options.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.21.5 deferred taxation on investment properties

 For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that 
are measured using the fair value model in IAS 40, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property 
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, 
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the 
directors have determined that the presumption set out in IAS 12.51C that investment properties measured using the 
fair value model are recovered through sale is not rebutted.

3.21.6 determination of new and revised standards effective for the 16 months ended 31 december 2013

 A number of new and revised accounting standards were effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. The standards are silent on the determination of how one is to interpret the effective date in instances where 
the period is not an annual period as is the case with the 16 month period ended 31 December 2013. The interpretation 
adopted is that these standards are in effect for the Group at period end and not deemed to have been early adopted 
as for all other annual periods ended 31 December 2013 the standards would be mandatorily effective. As such in the 
interest of relevance, reliability and comparability of financial information the new standards have been taken as 
mandatorily effective for the 16 month period ended 31 December 2013.

4.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
 
 Information reported to the managing director for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment 

performance focuses on the types of goods sold. The directors of the Company have chosen to organize the group 
around differences in goods sold. No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable 
segments of the group.  The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
policies described in note 3.

 Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

 Paints and surface coatings
 Chemicals
 All other
                                                                           16 months ended 31 December 2013
  
  Paints and
  Surface coatings Chemicals All other Adjustment Group Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
 Revenue     
 External  sales 16,597,782 23,072,830 - - 39,670,612
 Inter-segment sales/income 406,763 5,029,435 - (5,436,198) -
 Total revenue 17,004,545 28,102,265 - (5,436,198) 39,670,612
      
 Results     
 Operating profit 1,619,845 600,775 17,633 15,755 2,254,008
 Finance income 4,002 159,461 - (19,030) 144,433
 Finance cost (67,449) (75,230) (17,446) 19,030 (141,095)
 Profit before tax 1,556,398 685,006 187 15,755 2,257,346
 Income tax expense (412,647) (130,513) (18,613) (6,501) (568,274)
 Profit for the year 1,143,751 544,493 (18,426) 9,254 1,689,072
      
 Other information     
 Depreciation expense 328,334 562,129 29,145 -     919,608 
 Profit on sale of property, 
 plant and equipment 45,874 9,424 - -     55,298 
       

     
 Segment assets and liabilities     
 Segment assets 12,287,569 9,392,777 11,142,735 (8,429,181)    24,393,900 
 Segment liabilities 3,161,333 2,923,068 852,983 107,773    7,045,157 
 Additions to non-current assets 784,126 380,317 - -     1,164,443 
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4.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)      
  

 Segment assets and liabilities are only those items that can be specifically identified with a particular segment.

 Segment revenue reported above represents revenue from the sale of goods to both external parties and inter-
segmental sales. Income reported represents fees charged by head office for services rendered to the different 
segments.

 Segment profit represents the profit after tax without the allocation of head office income and expenditure that 
has been reported under ‘All other’. This is the measure reported to the chief executive officer for the purposes of 
resources allocation and assessment of segment performance.

 Revenue from major products and services

 The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products including inter-segmental sales (All 
revenue is from the sale of goods):

    
 2013 2012

  US$ US$
 Paints and surface coatings 17,004,545 13,208,919
 Chemicals 28,102,265 19,082,066 

 45,106,810 32,290,985

                                                                                       12 months ended 31 August 2012 - Restated
  Paints and
  Surface coatings Chemicals All other Adjustment Group Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

 Revenue    
 External  sales 13,182,633 16,432,500 13,409 - 29,628,542
 Inter-segment sales/income 26,286 2,649,566 - (2,675,852) -
 Total revenue 13,208,919 19,082,066 13,409 (2,675,852) 29,628,542 

    
 Results     
 Operating profit/(loss) 1,534,218 529,038 171,192 (32,936) 2,201,512
 Net finance expense  (66,016) (40,568) (46,908) - (153,492)
 Profit before tax 1,468,202 488,470 124,284 (32,936) 2,048,020
 Income tax (expense)/credit (366,369) (178,352) 11,819 6,249 (526,653)
 Profit for the year 1,101,833 310,118 136,103 (26,687) 1,521,367
     
 Other information     
 Depreciation expense 328,333 220,449 29,145 - 577,927
 Impairment of property, 
 plant and equipment 35,075 15,596 - - 50,671
 Profit on sale of property, 
 plant and equipment 19,107 3,194 - - 22,301 

     
 Segment assets and liabilities     
 Segment assets 9,905,539 8,472,290 11,231,869 (8,383,212) 21,226,486
 Segment liabilities 2,670,038 3,163,298 993,313 (51,202) 6,775,447
 Additions to non-current assets 641,237 503,175 - - 1,144,412 

     

5. OPERATING PROFIT
   2013 2012
   US$ US$
    Restated
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  919,608 577,927
 Fair value loss/(gain) on investment property 75,000 (230,000)
 Equity settled share based payments expense - 15,158
 Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (55,298) (22,299)
 Loss on disposal of non-current assets held for sale - 34,852
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 50,671
 Employee benefit expense: 5,762,187 4,108,841
 - Wages and salaries 5,353,747 3,771,648
 - Social security costs (Defined contribution plan) (NSSA) 84,963 83,879
 - Pension costs (Defined contribution plan) 323,477 253,314
 Directors remuneration - fees 85,200 70,800
 Auditors remuneration:   199,218 117,360
 - Audit fees 185,000 117,360
  For	the	year	ended	31	August 115 000 117,360
  For	the	16	months	ended	31	December 70 000 -
 - Other services 14,218 -
 Net foreign exchange translation gains (279,341) (125,204)
 Security costs 685,924 -
 Advertising costs 525,571 531,745
 Inventory write-offs 178,094 89,081
 (Reversal of impairment)/Impairment loss of trade receivables  (86,861) 105,736
 Rental income from investment property (128,594) (26,420)
 Direct operating expenses incurred on investment property: 161,707 83,618
 - Incurred on property which earned rental income 4,610 12,628
 - Incurred on property which did not generate rental income 157,097 70,990
   
6 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS)   

  
 Finance income  
 Interest on bank deposits 1,332 459
 Interest charged on overdue trade receivables 143,101 40,726
   144,433 41,185
 Finance costs  
 Interest on bank borrowings (141,095) (161,281)
 Other interest expense - (33,396)
   (141,095) (194,677)
   
7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
 
 Current tax expense in respect of the current year 639,653 701,152
 Deferred tax relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences (71,379) (174,499)
 Income tax expense 568,274 526,653
   
 tax rate reconciliation  

 
 Profit before tax 2,257,346 2,048,020
 Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25.75% 581,267 527,365
 Rate adjustment due to IAS12 adjustments - (45,731)
 Income not subject to tax (18,826) (67,305)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 17,381 82,640
 Other (11,548) 29,684
 Income tax expense 568,274 526,653
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8 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
  2013 2012
  Cents per share Cents per share
    

 
 Basic earnings per share 1.09 1.04 

  
 Diluted earnings per share 1.07 1.02
 
8.1 Basic earnings per share 
 
 The earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as 

follows.  
  2013 2012 

 US$ US$
 Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 1,519,291 1,453,132
   
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share  139,882,261 139,729,136
 
9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
   Plant,
  Land & Equipment
  Buildings & Furniture Vehicles Total
  US$                            US$ US$ US$
  Restated Restated Restated Restated
 At 31 August 2012    
 Opening net book amount 4,203,194 2,789,978 567,747 7,560,919
 Additions 15,595 401,513 727,304 1,144,412
 Revaluations 117,921 - - 117,921
 Impairment loss - (40,840) (9,831) (50,671)
 Disposals - (1,513) (15,676) (17,189)
 Depreciation charge  (103,391) (310,897) (163,639) (577,927)
 Transferred  to investment property (710,000) - - (710,000)
 Net book amount 3,523,319 2,838,241 1,105,905 7,467,465 

    
 At 31 August 2012    
 Cost 2,430,803 4,235,408 254,748 6,920,959
 Valuation 1,357,360 39,803 1,397,163 2,794,326
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss (264,844) (1,436,970) (546,006) (2,247,820)
 Net book amount 3,523,319 2,838,241 1,105,905 7,467,465
     
 As at 31 December 2013   
 Opening net book amount 3,523,319 2,838,241 1,105,905 7,467,465
 Additions 2,369 697,936 464,138 1,164,443
 Revaluations 1,147,313 773,893 - 1,921,206
 Disposals - (21,124) (46,829) (67,953)
 Depreciation charge  (116,269) (500,808) (302,531) (919,608)
 Classified as held for sale (note 16) - - 200 200
 Net book amount     4,556,732 3,788,138 1,220,883 9,565,753
     
 At 31 December 2013    
 Cost 3,199,372 3,935,644 512,379 7,647,395
 Valuation 1,357,360 39,803 1,397,163 2,794,326
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss - (187,309) (688,659) (875,968)
 Net book amount 4,556,732 3,788,138 1,220,883 9,565,753

9 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
 
 The depreciation expense is based on the following useful lives:
 Buildings  40 years 
 Plant and equipment  10 years 
 Motor vehicles  5 years 
 Furniture  10 years 
 Office equipment  5 years 
 Computers   3 years 

 The Group’s land, buildings and plant are stated at their revalued amounts as at 31 December 2013, being the fair 
value at that date arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by EPG Global, independent valuers.  
EPG Global has a board member on the Valuers Council of Zimbabwe and is also a member of the Real Estate 
Institute of Zimbabwe. They have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties 
in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by 
reference to comparable market evidence comprising complete transactions as well as transactions where offers 
had been made but the transaction had not been finalised.

 The fair value of land and buildings was determined based on the prices of other related properties in the market. 
Professional judgement was also employed to adjust the market evidence to take cognizance of the fact that 
the properties in the transactions are not exactly comparable in terms of size, location and quality to the subject 
properties. 

 Had there been no revaluation the carrying amount of land & buildings would have been US$3,409,419 and 
US$3,014,245 for plant, equipment & furniture.

 
 Details of the Group’s freehold land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 

2013 are as follows (see note 3.2 for explanation of fair value hierarchy):
   
 Asset Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as at 31 Dec 2013

 Land  & buildings - 4,556,732 - 4,556,732
 Plant & equipment - 3,618,297 - 3,618,297
 Total - 8,175,029 - 8,175,029

 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the period. 

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
    2013 2012
    US$ US$
  
 Investment properties at fair value   3,885,000 3,960,000
 
 Balance at beginning of the period   3,960,000 3,020,000
 (Loss)/gain on fair value adjustment   (75,000) 230,000
 Transferred from property, plant and equipment  - 710,000
 Balance at end of the period   3,885,000 3,960,000
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
   Restated
 Trade receivables 3,854,061 3,407,129
 Allowance for doubtful debts (246,704) ( 177,795)
 Net trade receivables 3,607,357 3,229,334
 Other receivables     462,513     237,216 
     4,069,870  3,466,550 
 
 Trade receivables disclosed above are classified as loans and receivables and are therefore measured at amortised 

cost. 

 The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 days. Allowances for doubtful debts are recognised against trade 
receivables between 60 days and 90 days based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to 
past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position. 

 Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses a credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit 
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. 70% 
of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring.

 Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see following aged analysis) which are past due at the end of 
the reporting period but against which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables because 
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts (which include interest accrued after the 
receivable is over 60 days outstanding) are still considered recoverable.

 The Group does not hold any collateral or other enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right of 
offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.  The concentration 
of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

  2013 2012
  US$ US$
   Restated
 30-60 days 1,667,192 992,915
 61-90 days 539,927 374,224
 Above 90 days - 290,540
  2,207,119 1,657,679
 Average (days) 60 46
   
 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts  
 Balance at beginning of the period 177,795 283,531
 Current year increase in provision 194,301 181,532
 Bad debts written off (125,392) (287,268)
 Balance at end of the period 246,704 177,795
    

  
15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

  
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
   Restated
 Bank balances and cash on hand 716,288 1,000,263
 
 Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates.  Short-term deposits are made for varying 

periods of between one day and three months, depending on immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn 
interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

 The fair value of the investment property as at 31 December 2013 and 31 August 2012 has been arrived at on the 
basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by EPG Global, independent valuers.  EPG Global has a board 
member on the Valuers Council of Zimbabwe and is also a member of the Real Estate Institute of Zimbabwe. They 
have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The 
valuation, which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by reference to comparable market 
evidence comprising complete transactions as well as transactions where offers had been made but the transaction 
had not been finalised.  The following assumptions were used:  

  Harare  Bulawayo Bulawayo
  Property  Property Property
  (53 Plymouth Road,  (5 Wolverhampton (36 Plumtree
  Southerton, Road, Donnington, Road, Donnington,
  Harare) Bulawayo) Bulawayo) TOTAL
  US$ US$ US$ US$
 Fair value  (market value) – 2012 2,800,000 710 000 450,000 3,960,000
 Fair value adjustment – 2013 (100,000) 10,000 15,000 (75,000)
 Fair value  (market value) – 2013 2,700,000 720 000 465,000 3,885,000
 Return on potential rental income:    
 -2013 13.0% 13.1% 12.3% 
 -2012 13.0% 12.0% 12.0% 
 Land area 27,235 m2 8,179 m2 3,751 m2 39,165 m2

 Gross external area 15,098 m2 5,077 m2 2,881 m2 23,056 m2

 Gross lettable area 14,665 m2 4,787 m2 2,746 m2 22,198 m2

     
 Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2013 

are as follows (see note 3.2 for explanation of fair value hierarchy).

 Asset Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as 
     at 31 Dec 2013
 Investment property - 3,885,000 - 3,885,000
 Total - 3,885,000 - 3,885,000

 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the period. 

11 HELD TO MATURITY INVESTMENTS    
 Convertible long-term debenture   2013 2012 
    US$ US$
 Issued by Lobels Bread (Private) Limited    103,436 -
     
 On 8 March 2013, Lobels Bread (Private) Limited issued an unsecured 5 year convertible debenture in settlement of 

its debt with a maturity amount of US$103,436. The group had previously written off the amount receivable in prior 
year and as such in the current year the amount has been recognised as a bad debt recovered. The debenture has a 
coupon rate of 5% per annum payable monthly and matures on 9 March 2018.  The debt was fully written off in the 
prior year but has now been recognised in the income statement as bad debts recovered and in the statement of 
financial position as convertible long term debenture. 

     
12 OTHER ASSETS   
    2013 2012
    US$ US$
 Prepayments   225,313 387,511
    225,313 387,511
13 INVENTORIES
    2013 2012 

   US$ US$
     Restated
 Raw materials and components   2,007,996 2,143,093
 Finished goods   3,750,642 2,720,145
 Work in progress   61,701 71,727
 Consumable stores   7,901 9,532
    5,828,240 4,944,497
  
 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period was US$25.5million (2012: US$19.7million) 
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16 NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
   2013 2012
   US$ US$
   
 Motor-vehicles, computers and office equipment  - 200
   - 200
 
 The Group has decided to utilise a trailer which was classified as held for sale since April 2011.  Accordingly, the trailer 

has been reclassified as property, plant and equipment at its carrying amount as no depreciation would have been 
charged since its classification to non-current assets held for sale as its residual valued exceeded its carrying amount.

17 ISSUED  CAPITAL    
 

17.1 SHARE CAPITAL  
 
   2013 2012
   US$ US$
 Authorised    

155,000,000 Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each  1,550,000 1,550,000
    
 Issued and fully paid   
  Number of shares Share capital Share Premium

 Balance at 31 August 2012 139,729,136 1,397,291 6,255,100
 Issue of shares under employee share option plan 265 000 2,650 11,429
 Balance at 31 December 2013 139,994,136 1,399,941 6,266,529

  Fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of US$0.01, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends. 

17.2 UNISSUED SHARES
 In terms of the authority granted at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 4 February 2000, 12 415 882 of the 

unissued shares indefinitely remain under the control of the directors to allot or dispose of on such terms and 
conditions as they, in their discretion, think fit.

 
17.3 SHARES UNDER OPTION
   2013 2012 
   US$ US$
 Share options reserve  69,084 77, 013
 
 The Directors are empowered to grant share options to certain employees of the Group.  These options are granted 

for a period of ten years at a price determined by the market price ruling on the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange on the 
dealing day prior to the granting of the options.  Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share of 
Astra Industries Limited on exercise.  No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option.  The 
number of shares subject to option is approved by shareholders in general meeting, and the number of options 
granted is calculated in accordance with the criteria approved by the Remuneration Committee.

 At an Extra Ordinary General Meeting of 21 September 2006, a share option scheme was approved.  In terms of this 
scheme, Directors may allot up to 13 463 914 shares to senior employees of the Group.  Share options are exercisable 
at the price prevailing on grant date.  Share options granted under the employee share option plan carry no rights 
to dividends and no voting rights until they are exercised.  The following share based payment arrangements were 
in existence in the current and prior reporting periods.

17.3 SHARES UNDER OPTION (continued)   
  Subscription  Number of share options
  Price 
 Date of grant  2013 2012
    
 24 January 2007 - 135,000 225,000
 27 October 2009 US$ 0.03 2,170,000 2,345,000 

  2,305,000 2,570,000
 Options for allotment    

   
 Opening balance available for allotment  7,098,914 7,098,914
 Lapsed  - -
 Allotted  - -
 Closing balance available for allotment  7,098,914 7,098,914
     

   
 Options to be exercised    

Balance at the beginning of the period  2,570,000 2,570,000
 Allotted  - -
 Lapsed  (250,000) -
 Exercised  (265,000) -
 Balance at the end of the period  2,055,000 2,570,000
       

     
 Share option subscription price  Share options exercised  Share options granted
  2013 2012 2013 2012
 ZWD 50.00 (before revaluation) 90,000 - - -
 US$ 0.03 175,000 - - -
 Total 265,000 - - -

17.4 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS    
 
 The beneficial interests of directors and their nominees at 31 December 2013 in the share capital of the Company 

were:
  Ordinary shares Options
  2013 2012 2013 2012
 E.J. Davies* 628,000 628,000 320,000 320,000
 M. Mazimbe 366 5,487 670,000 670,000
 H.M. Nhende 1,070,863 1,077,983 220,000 220,000
  1,699,229 1,711,470 1,210,000 1,210,000
 
 *resigned as a director during the period
 In addition to the above M. Mazimbe and H.M. Nhende have an interest in Hemister Investments which has a 24.99% 

interest in the Group.

18 REVALUATION RESERVE  
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
   Restated
 Balance at beginning of the period  2,729,344 2,550,777
 Tax effect of change in manner of recovery of investment property  - 66,542
 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 1,921,206 117,921
 Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation (460,888) (5,896)
 Portion relating to non-controlling interests (83,728) -
 Balance at the end of the period 4,105,934 2,729,344
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES      
 

  2013     2012 
 US$ US$

   Restated
 Trade payables 3,929,302 2,375,869
 Leave pay accrual  265,338 234,410 

Bonus pay accrual 65,528 268,534 
Technical and audit fees accruals 68,575 73,750

 Onerous contract – RBZ (i) 220,000 220,000
 Other payables 404,053 1,055,100 

 4,952,796 4,227,663
  
 The average credit period on purchases is 30 days.  The Group has financial risk management policies in place to 

ensure that payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.
 
(i) The Group has a present obligation to deliver scotch carts to the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe (RBZ) under  a contract 

entered into during the Zimbabwe dollar trading period. The costs of completing the contract approximates US$220 
000 whereas there are no economic benefits expected as the Zimbabwe dollar denominated payment was already 
received in prior years (pre-dollarisation). 

      
23 ADJUSTMENT FOR NON CASH ITEMS     
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
   Restated
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 919,608 577,927
 Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment - 50,671
 Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (55,298) (22,299)
 (Reversal)/Impairment loss on trade receivables        (68,909)    105,736
 Bad debts recovered (103,436) -
 Loss on disposal of non-current assets classified as held for sale - 34,852
 Share based payment expense - 15,158
 Dividends payable to outside shareholders’ interests - (5,776)
 Unrealised exchange (gains)/losses    (68,254)           55,695 
 Fair value adjustment of investment property 75,000 (230,000)
      698,711      581,964
 
24 INCREASE IN WORKING CAPITAL
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
 Increase in inventories (883,743) (380,205)
 Increase in trade and other receivables (534,411) ( 287,137)
 Decrease in other assets 162,198 (58,077)
 Increase in trade and other payables 793,387 774,099
  (462,569) 48,680
      

19 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  
    2013 2012
    US$ US$
     Restated
 Balance at beginning of the period   898,191 835,732
 Share of attributable earnings   169,781 68,235
 Dividends payable   (6,327) (5,776)
 Share of other comprehensive income   83,728 -
 Balance at end of the period   1,145,373 898,191

20 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
 
 Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal rate 

of 25.75% (2012: 25.75%) and 5% for investment properties.
 
 The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
    2013 2012
    US$ US$
     Restated
 Balance at beginning of the period   1,494,537 1,729,682
 Effect of change in manner of recovery of investment property   - (66,542)
 Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (71,379) (174,499)
 Other comprehensive income –revaluation of property, plant and equipment  460,888 5,896
 Balance at the end of the period   1,884,046 1,494,537
    
   
    Charged to  

  Charged/ other
  August  (credited) comprehensive  December
  2012  to income income 2013
  US$ US$ US$ US$
  Restated    

deferred income tax liabilities    
 Capital allowances 1,746,468 (135,395) 460,888 2,071,961
 Other temporary differences 5,836 20,523 - 26,359
  1,752,304 (114,872) 460,888 2,098,320
 deferred income tax assets   
 Other deductible temporary differences  (257,767) 43,493 - (214,274)
     
 Net deferred income tax liability 1,494,537 (71,379) 460,888 1,884,046
      

  
21 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS     

   2013 2012
    US$ US$
 Unsecured at amortised cost     

Drawdown on Barclays  facility at 10% per annum    150,000 925,000
     
 The bank loan is a drawdown on a US$ 1 million annual facility which was renewed on 11 April 2013.
 
 Borrowing powers
 In terms of the Memorandum and Articles of Association the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Group 

to borrow money and to secure the repayments thereof provided that the aggregate amount owing by the Group 
and its subsidiaries at any one time including contingent liabilities for the debts of other companies but excluding 
intergroup borrowings shall not, without the previous sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Group, exceed the 
shareholders’ equity net of revaluation surpluses, as set out in the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group 
and its subsidiaries.  The unutilised borrowing capacity of the Group is US$13 million (2012: US$11 million).
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)    
 
 Fair value of financial instruments     
 The estimated net fair values of all financial instruments approximate the carrying amounts shown in the financial 

statements.

25.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
 The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings and trade payables. The main purpose of these 

financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets such as trade 
and other receivables and cash and bank balances which arise directly from its operations.

 The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate, credit and liquidity. The Board of 
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

 
 Categories of financial instruments
    

 2013 2012
  US$ US$
 Financial assets  Restated
 Held to maturity investment (note 11) 103,436 -
 Trade and other receivables 4,069,870 3,466,550
 Cash and cash equivalents 716,288 1,000,263
  4,889,594 4,466,813
 Financial liabilities  
 Short-term borrowings 150,000 925,000
 Trade and other payables 4,952,796 4,227,663
  5,102,796 5,152,663

25.3 Interest rate risk    
  
 The Group’s exposure to the risk for changes in market rates relates primarily to the Group’s short-term debt 

obligations with a floating interest rate. Management monitors the Group’s debts and makes efforts to reduce the 
interest rate exposure. However, during the year the Group’s borrowings were either interest-free or at fixed rates.

 No financial instruments were entered into to mitigate the risk of interest rates. 
     
25.4 Credit risk    
  
 Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade and 

other receivables, bank and cash balances. The Group’s bank balances are placed with high credit quality institutions. 
Loan advances are presented net of a provision for impairment. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who 
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, trade and other receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to mitigate the Group’s exposure to bad debts. There is no significant 
concentration of credit risk within the Group arising from the financial assets of the Group. 

 Credit risk in respect of borrowing clients is diversified due to the large number of customers comprising the Group’s 
customer base and their dispersion across different geographical areas. Accordingly, the Group has no significant 
concentration of credit risk. The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk without taking into consideration any collateral provided:

    
 2013 2012

  US$ US$
 Financial assets and other credit exposures  
 Long-term debenture receivable (note 11) 103,436 -
 Trade and other receivables 4,295,183 3,854,061
 Cash and cash equivalents 716,288 1,000,263
  5,114,907 4,854,324

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS    
 
25.1 Financial Risk Factors
 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effect of changes in debt, foreign currency 

exchange rates and interest rates. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

 Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Audit Committee.  The Management 
identifies and evaluates financial risks. The Board provides policies for overall risk management, as well as policies 
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. 

 Treasury Risk Management
 The Management Committee, consisting of senior executives of the Group, meets on a regular basis to analyse, 

amongst other matters, currency and interest rate exposures and re-evaluate treasury management strategies 
against revised economic forecasts.  Compliance with Group policies and exposure limits is reviewed at quarterly 
board meetings of Astra Industries Limited, the parent company.

 
 Foreign exchange Risk Management
 Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations and foreign loans is limited by group treasury policy which encourages all 

foreign balances to be denominated in United States dollars and is monitored by the Group Management Committee.  
Significant exposure to foreign loans is limited to operations that generate sufficient foreign currency receipts that 
effectively act as a hedge.  Operating subsidiaries manage short-term currency exposures relating to trade imports 
and exports within approved parameters.  At 31 December 2013, net foreign obligations were US$1,124,000 (2012: 
US$ 426,178) and denominated in South African Rands.

 Based on a 10% increase or decrease in the exchange rate of the United Stated Dollar against the South African Rand, 
the effect would have been US$112,400 (2012: US$42,618) on profit for the year. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when 
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the possible change in the foreign exchange rate.    

 
 Interest Risk Management
 Group policy is to adopt a non-speculative approach to managing interest rate risk.  Approved funding instruments 

include bankers’ acceptances, call loans, overdrafts, foreign loans and where appropriate, long term loans.  
Approved investment instruments include fixed and call deposits.

 Liquidity Risk Management
 With residual cash reserves, net of all borrowings and unused bank facilities; the Group is able to meet all short term 

commitments.

 Capital management
 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 

while maximizing the return to stakeholders.  The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (comprising 
borrowings as offset by cash and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves and 
retained earnings).  The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  The gearing ratio is 
0.86 % in the current year (2012: 6.40% Restated).

 Credit risk management
 Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of short- term cash and cash equivalent investments and 

trade receivables.  The Group’s cash resources are invested with the most reputable financial institutions.  Trade 
receivables comprise a large, widespread customer base, no single amount of which is greater than 10% of the 
total, and Group companies perform on-going credit evaluations of the financial conditions of their customers.  
Accordingly the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, which has not been adequately provided for.

   
   2013 2012
   US$ US$
    Restated
 Maximum permissible year end borrowings 11,735,807 10,823,504
 Actual net borrowings comprising:  
        Current borrowings (note 21) (150,000) (925,000)
        Bank and cash balances  716,288 1,000,263
 Unutilised borrowing capacity 12,302,095 10,898,767
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

25.5 Liquidity risk   
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may fail to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Group 

identifies this risk through periodic liquidity gap analysis and the maturity profile of assets and liabilities. Where 
major gaps appear, action is taken in advance to close or minimise the gaps

      
 Liquidity gap analysis  At 31 December 2013 

  Less than  1 to 3  3 months  1 to
  1 month months to 1 year 5 years Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
 Financial assets     
 Long-term debenture (note 11) - - - 103,436 103,436
 Trade and other receivables 2,320,359 1,583,442 166,069 - 4,069,870
 Cash and cash equivalents 716,288 - - - 716,288
 total financial assets 3,036,647 1,583,442 166,069 103,436 4,889,594
      
 Financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables 2,562,659 1,032,677 1,357,460 - 4,952,796
 Short-term borrowings - - 150,000 - 150,000
 total financial liabilities 2,562,659 1,032,677 1,507,460 - 5,102,796
      
 Net financial assets/(liabilities) 473,988 550,765 (1,341,391) 103,436 (213,202)
    
 
 Liquidity gap analysis  At 31 August 2012 - Restated

   Less than  1 to 3  3 months 
   1 month months to 1 year Total
   US$ US$ US$ US$
 Financial assets     
 Trade and other receivables  1,233,907 1,928,667 303,956 3,466,530
 Cash and cash equivalents  1,000,263        -       -    1,000,263
 total financial assets  2,234,170 1,928,667 303,956 4,466,793
      
 Financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables  2,377,049 1,178,920 671,694 4,227,663
 Short-term borrowings                      -                        -    925,000 925,000
 total financial liabilities  2,377,049 1,178,920 1,596,694 5,152,663
         
 Net financial assets  (142,879) 749,747 (1,292,738) (685,870)
      
 The Group covers liquidity gaps that arise from the cash flows generated from the sale of inventory currently on 

hand as well through arrangement of credit facilities with banking institutions.
 
26. COMPOSITION OF GROUP

 The place of incorporation and business for the subsidiaries below is Zimbabwe. 

 Principal Activity  
 Number of wholly owned Subsidiaries

     2013 2012
 Surface coatings    1 1
 Distribution of chemicals and solvents    1 1
     2 2
   
 Principal Activity Number of non-wholly owned Subsidiaries
     2013 2012
 Portable alcohol distillery    1 1
 Distribution of paint and chemicals    1 1
     2 2

26 COMPOSITION OF GROUP (CONTINUED)  
 
  Ownership interests   Accumulated non
  and voting rights held by  Profit or loss allocated to  controlling 

Name of Subsidiary non controlling interests  non controlling interests interests
  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
    US$ US$ US$ US$
 NCP Distillers Zimbabwe 49% 49% 158,965 30,821 1,018,569 784,610
 Chemical Enterprises 40% 40%   10,816 37,414    126,804 113,581
      1,145,373 898,191
      
 In addition to the above the Group owns the following dormant subsidiaries. 

 Subsidiaries held by the Group – Wholly owned and unquoted:  
  Principal Activity
 Ascorp Trading Company (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra Engineering (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra Finance (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra Guard (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra Paints (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra Shipping Services (Private) Limited Dormant
 Astra Trading (Private) Limited Dormant
 Canley Properties (Private) Limited Dormant

 Other investments
 The Group has a 2.33% voting and ownership interest and voting power in Medical Investments t/a Avenues Clinic 

which has not been valued to date, however is not anticipated to be material.

27 PENSION FUNDS 
 
 Astra Industries Pension Fund
 The Group and its employees contribute to the Astra Industries Pension Fund which is a defined contribution plan.  

Contributions amount to 10% by the Group while  employees contribute 6% of pensionable emoluments. 
 
 National Social Security Authority Scheme (NSSA)
 This is a defined contribution scheme promulgamated under the National Social Security Act of 1989.  The Group’s 

obligations under the scheme are limited to specific contributions legislated from time to time.  These are presently 
3.5% of pensionable emoluments limited to US$700 per month per employee.

 Charge made to the Group’s statement of comprehensive  income for the year was: 
    

 2013 2012
  US$ US$ 

  Restated
 Astra Industries Pension Fund (defined contribution plan) 323,477 253,314
 NSSA (defined contribution plan) 84,963 83,879 

 408,440 337,193
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28 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
  
 The Group had no known contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2013. 
  
29.1 TRADING TRANSACTIONS  
 
 During the year, Group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not 

members of the Group:
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
 Rentals  
 Paid by Chemical Enterprises (Private) Limited 
 to Younus Sacranie (Private) Limited, an outside shareholder in 
 Chemical Enterprises, who is the owner of the business premises. 87,264 58,080
 Purchases
 Purchased goods from Kansai Plascon, a major 
 share holder in Astra Industries (Pvt) Ltd 444,067 -
 The balance owing to Kansai Plascon as at year end  384,297 -
 
 All trading transactions were at arm’s length and normal trading terms.
   
29.2 COMPENSATION FOR KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL   

 
 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:
    

 2013 2012 
  US$ US$
   Restated
 Short-term benefits 2,164,998 1,655,143
 Post employment benefits 129,751 98,272
  2,294,749 1,753,415
    

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration committee having regard 
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

   
30 OPERATING LEASES   

 
 Operating leases relate to the investment properties owned by the Group with lease terms of between 1 to 3 years 

with an option to extend for further 3 years. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event 
that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at the 
expiry of the lease period.

  
 Rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties and direct operating expenses arising on the 

investment properties for the year are set in note 5
 
 Non-cancellable operating lease receivables
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
 Not later than 1 year 54,000 87,000
 Later than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 36,000 90,000
 Later than 5 years - -
  90,000 177,000

31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS   
 2013 2012

  US$ US$
 Property, plant and equipment - authorised but not contracted 500,972 1,216,586
   
32 GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION     

 
 The Directors have assessed the ability of the Group to continue operating as a going concern and believe that the 

preparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is still appropriate. 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

 Notes 2013 2012
   US$ US$
ASSETS  
 
Non-current assets   
Investment in subsidiaries A 7,649,961 7,649,961
 
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents B 16,050 9,900
 
Total assets  7,666,011 7,659,861
    
EQUITY    

   
Capital and reserves    

  
Share capital  1,399,941 1,397,291
Share premium  6,266,529 6,255,100
Share option reserve  69,084 77,013
Accumulated loss  (69,543) (69,543)

Total equity  7,666,011 7,659,861

  Notes 2013 2012
   US$ US$

Revenue  - -
Equity settled share based payment expense 5 - (15,158)
Finance costs  - -
Loss before tax  - (15,158)
    
Taxation  - -
Loss for the year  - (15,158)

Other comprehensive income  - -
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (15,158)
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

    Share
  Share Share  option Accumulated Total
  Capital premium reserve loss Equity
  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
   
Balance at 31 August 2011 1,397,291 6,255,100 61,855 (54,385) 7,659,861

Recognition of share based payments - - 15,158 (15,158) - 
 

Balance at 31 August 2012 1,397,291 6,255,100 77,013 (69,543) 7,659,861

Share options exercised 2,650 11,429 (7,929) - 6,150

Balance at 31 December 2013 1,399,941 6,266,529 69,084 (69,543) 7,666,011
    

 2013 2012
  US$ US$
   
Cash flows from operating activities  
Operating loss for the year - (15,158)
Adjustment for non-cash items:  
- equity settled share based payments expense - 15,158
  
Cash flows from operating activities - -
  
Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issue of new shares 6,150 -
  
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,150 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 9,900 9,900
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 16,050 9,900
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERSNOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
THE 16 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
  2013 2012
  US$ US$
 
A INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
  
 Share at cost less provision:  
 - Investment in Astra Holdings Limited 5,040,074 5,040,074
 - Investment in Astra Chemical (Private) Limited 2,609,887 2,609,887
  7,649,961 7,649,961
   
B CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

 
 Amount receivable for proceeds on share options exercised by employees:  
 - Collected by Astra Holdings Limited on behalf of the Company 16,150 9,900

  Number of Number of  
 shareholders  shares-000s  Percentage

Class of shareholder    
  

Pension Funds 22 4,115  2.95% 
Individuals 417 10,750  7.68% 
Nominees 30 9,414  6.72% 
Insurance Companies 3 1,611  1.15% 
Employees 4 6,375  4.55% 
Corporations 103 107,729  76.95% 
  579 139,994 100%

Share range    
 

1- 5 000 409 520  0.37% 
5 001 -10 0000 60 463 0.33%
10 001 - 50 000 64    1,565  1.12%
50 001 - 100 000  16      1,163  0.83%
100 001 - 500 000 14         3,960 2.83%
500 001 - 1 000 000 5       3,549  2.54%
1 000 001 - 10 000 000 8   24,936  17.81%
>10 000 000 3  103,838  74.17%
Total equity 579 139,994 100.00%
     

 
10 Largest Shareholders    

 
KANSAI PLASCON AFRICA - NNR,   53,537 38.24%
HEMISTAR INVESTMENTS (PRIVATE)LIMITED,   34,991 24.99%
CYRUS HOLDING CORPORATION LTD  15,312 10.94%
ASTRA INDUSTRIES LIMITED WORKERS TRUST  6,332 4.52%
EQUIVEST NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  5,252 3.75%
BADEN, CORNES STEWART  5,038 3.61%
SETMA (PRIVATE) LIMITED  2,086 1.49%
DATVEST NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  2,073 1.48%
OLD MUTUAL LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY OF ZIMBABWE LIMITED 1,607 1.15%
BARD NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  1,481 1.06%
       127,709  91.23%

Directors’ shareholdings are set out in note 17.4 to these Consolidated financial statements.
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NOTESNOTES




